# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-3-2013

# Gerdon v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40420

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

James Gerdon appeals from the district court's Summary Dismissal dated September 5, 2012, of his successive petition for post conviction, and the Order Denying Motion to Reconsider dated September 19, 2012. (R., pp. 27-29, 38-40). Mr. Gerdon asserts that the district court erred by dismissing his petition for post-conviction relief and by failing to reconsider its dismissal.

#### B. Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

On August 9, 2012, the petitioner, Mr. Gerdon, filed his successive Petition and Affidavit for Post-Conviction Relief claim due to failure of the court to rule on a motion he had filed, and for lack of access to the courts and effective assistance of counsel on his prior post-conviction. (R., pp. 9-12). On August 13,2012, the district court issued a Notice of Intent to Dismiss Successive Petition for Post-Conviction Relief, giving Mr, Gerdon 20 days to respond. (R., pp. 16-26). The district court clerk failed to mail the 20 day notice, issued on August 13, 2012, until August 23, 2012. (R., p. 35). After receiving no response to the notice, the district court dismissed Gerdon's petition on September 5, 2012. (R., pp. 27-29).

On September 14, 2012, Mr, Gerdon filed a Motion to Reconsider along with an Affidavit in support and requested a hearing to submit evidence on the matter. (R. pp. 32-37). In that motion, Mr. Gerdon indicated that the Notice of Intent to Dismiss Successive Petition for Post- Conviction Relief was mailed to him on August 23, 2012 so that he was deprived of the opportunity to respond to the Notice of Intent to Dismiss. (R., pp. 35-36).

In its order denying Mr. Gerdon's motion to reconsider, the district court noted that it did appear that Gerdon was limited in the amount of time he had to file a response to the court's notice of intent to dismiss. (R., p. 38). Nonetheless, the district court denied the motion and therefore summarily dismissed Mr. Gerdon's petition. (R., p. 39).

Mr. Gerdon timely filed his appeal. (R., pp. 45-48).

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

#### A. Did the district court err when it summarily dismissed Mr. Gerdon's Successive Petition for Post-Conviction Relief as untimely and as a successive petition, and denied Mr. Gerdon's Motion to Reconsder?

#### III. ARGUMENT

#### Α.

A. <u>The District Court Erred when it summarily dismissed Mr. Gerdon's</u> <u>Successive Petition for Post-Conviction Relief as untimely and as a</u> <u>successive petition, and denied Mr. Gerdon's Motion to Reconsder.</u>

A petition for post-conviction relief under the Uniform Post Conviction Procedure

Act (UPCPA) is a civil action in nature. Workman v. State, 144 Idaho 518, 522, 164 P.3d

798, 802 (2007). Under Idaho Code § 19-4903, the petitioner must prove the claims

upon which the petition is based by a preponderance of the evidence. Workman, 144

Idaho at 522, 164 P.3d at 802.

A claim for post-conviction relief must be raised in an original application. I.C. § 19-4908. That application must be filed within one year from the expiration of the time for appeal or from the determination of an appeal or from the determination of a proceeding following an appeal, whichever proceeding is later. I.C. § 19-4902. Successive petitions are impermissible "unless the court finds a ground for relief asserted which for sufficient reason was not asserted or was inadequately raised in the original, supplemental, or amended application." I.C. § 19-4908.

Section 19-4908 sets forth no fixed time within which successive petitions may be filed, however, the "sufficient reason" language in the statute necessarily provides "a reasonable time within which such claims [may be] asserted in a successive post-conviction petition, once those claims are known." *Charboneau v. State*, 144 Idaho 900, 905, 174 P.3d 870, 875 (2007). The determination of what is a reasonable time is considered by the courts on a case-by-case basis. *Id*.

An "allegation that a claim was not adequately presented in the first postconviction action due to the ineffective assistance of prior post-conviction counsel, if true, provides sufficient reason for permitting issues that were inadequately presented to be presented in a subsequent application for post-conviction relief." *Baker v. State*, 142 Idaho 411, 420, 128 P.3d 948, 957 (Ct. App. 2005). Thus, a petitioner asserting ineffective assistance of prior post-conviction counsel as the "sufficient reason" for failing to adequately assert a claim in the original post-conviction action must satisfy a two-level burden of proof. First, the petitioner must demonstrate that ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel caused the inadequate presentation of a claim in the first petition. *See id.* Second, the petitioner must prove the underlying claim that was inadequately presented and upon which relief is sought. *See Workman*, 144 Idaho at 522, 164 P.3d at 802.

Summary dismissal of an application is permissible only when the applicant's evidence has raised no genuine issue of material fact which, if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle the applicant to the requested relief. If such a factual issue is presented, an evidentiary hearing must be conducted. *Berg v. State*, 131 Idaho 517, 518, 960 P.2d 738, 739 (1998); *Cowger v. State*, 132 Idaho 681, 684, 978 P.2d 241, 244 (Ct. App. 1999); *Gonzales v. State*, 120 Idaho 759, 763, 819 P.2d 1159, 1163 (Ct. App. 1991).

On review of a dismissal of a post-conviction relief application without an evidentiary hearing, the court must determine whether a genuine issue of fact exists based on the pleading, deposition, and admissions together with any affidavits on file. *Rhoades v. State*, 148 Idaho 247, 250, 220 P.3d 1066, 1069 (2009); *Ricca v. State*, 124 Idaho 894, 896, 865 P.2d 985, 987 (Ct. App. 1993).

1. Mr. Gerdon's Petition should have been allowed under I.C. 19-4901 and not been summarily dismissed due to the existence of a genuine issue of fact.

Mr. Gerdon's contends that the district court erred by failing to allow his petition under I.C. § 14-4901, and *Charboneau v. State*, 144 Idaho 900, 904, 174 P.3d 870, 874 (2007). Mr. Gerdon argues that he has made a substantial factual showing that his claim for relief raises a substantial doubt about the reliability the court process concerning the motion he filed that the court did not process. Further Mr. Gerdon contends that because the court did not rule on the motion, he could not have, in the exercise of due diligence, been raised earlier, allowing a successive petition under I.C. § 19-4901.

An "allegation that a claim was not adequately presented in the first postconviction action . . . provides sufficient reason for permitting issues that were inadequately presented to be presented in a subsequent application for post-conviction relief." *Baker v. State*, 142 Idaho 411, 420, 128 P.3d 948, 957 (Ct. App. 2005).

Mr. Gerdon contends that he raised substantial facts in his verified petition ande affidavit concerning the fact that his underlying claim were not adequately presented, and that the inadequate presentation of his claims was due to the failure of the court to rule on a motion that Mr. Gerdon had filed.

As a result, he could not pursue his claim, and that therefore, his points were not adequately presented as discussed in *Charboneau* and *Baker*.

Further, Mr. Gerdon presented testimony that he did not have access to Idaho law books as he was held out of state, and that for that additional reason, his arguments were not presented adequately previously. (R., p. 10).

The district court noted that "equitable tolling" as discussed by *Cherboneau*, has been applied only in cases of mental disease and/or psychotropic medication, or when a petitioner was incarcerated out of state on an in-state conviction without legal representation or access to Idaho legal materials. (R. 22). Mr. Gerdon contends that he has submitted evidence of both those very things. First, his motion that he duly filed was not ruled upon, providing him no access to the courts to pursue his claim. Second, due to being housed out of state, and/or due to the communication issues he documented, he did not have access to legal representation in any effective sense. Last, he did not have access to Idaho legal materials.

It is Mr. Gerdon's position that the failure to rule on his motion denied him access to the courts. Therefore, Mr. Gerdon's problems with his legal mail cost him the ability to file for any further relief concerning those issues. His subsequent post-conviction, therefore, attempts dealt with the lack of ability to receive a ruling from the courts, and therefore a lack of access to the courts.

As stated above, summary dismissal of an application is permissible only when the applicant's evidence has raised no genuine issue of material fact which, if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle the applicant to the requested relief. If such a factual issue is presented, an evidentiary hearing must be conducted. *Berg v. State*, 131 Idaho 517, 518, 960 P.2d 738, 739 (1998); *Cowger v. State*, 132 Idaho 681, 684, 978 P.2d 241, 244 (Ct. App. 1999); *Gonzales v. State*, 120 Idaho 759, 763, 819 P.2d 1159, 1163 (Ct. App. 1991).

It bears repeating that on review of a dismissal of a post-conviction relief application without an evidentiary hearing, the court must determine whether a genuine issue of fact exists based on the pleadings, depositions, and admissions together with any affidavits on file. *Rhoades v. State*, 148 Idaho 247, 250, 220 P.3d 1066, 1069 (2009); *Ricca v. State*, 124 Idaho 894, 896, 865 P.2d 985, 987 (Ct. App. 1993).

Mr. Gerdon contends that he raised substantial facts in his pleadings (See R., pp. 9-12) concerning his motion which was held by the courts for seven and one half years, and that the inadequate presentation of his claimswas due to the inadequate access to the courts and to his attorneys. Mr. Banks contends that he raised numerous facts presenting issues regarding ineffective performance by his attorney that caused

his underlying claim to be inadequately presented.

It is further Mr. Gerdon's contention that because he raised such claims, and supported them with the facts in his pleadings, that summary dismissal, and the failure to reconsider or alter said dismissal upon his motion, was error.

As a result, the district court failed to properly determine whether or not a genuine issue of fact exists based on the pleadings, depositions, and admissions together with any affidavits on file as required by law. Consequently, as the district court failed to properly analyse the factual questions raised by Mr. Gerdon's pleadings and by the record, and failed to allow Mr. Gerdon, a pro se applicant for relief, an opportunity for a hearing to "flesh out" his claims, the court erred by summarily dismissing his petition. Therefore, it is Mr. Gerdon's contention that his post-conviction petition, and at least a hearing thereon, should have been allowed.

#### **IV. CONCLUSION**

Based on the above, Mr. Gerdon respectfully requests that this Court vacate the district court's order dismissing his petition for post-conviction relief, and denying his motion to reconsider, and remand the matter for further hearings.