# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-26-2013

### Gerdon v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40420

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature Of The Case

James Allen Gerdon appeals from the district court's summary dismissal of his untimely successive petition for post-conviction relief.

#### Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

As set forth by the district court:

In an underlying criminal case, *State of Idaho v. James Alan* [sic] *Gerdon*, Dist. Ct., Fifth Jud. Dist., Twin Falls County, Idaho, Case No. CR 03-6576, Gerdon pled guilty on November 10, 2003, to four counts of Sexual Abuse of a Minor, three counts of Lewd Conduct with a Minor, and two counts of Attempted Lewd Conduct with a Minor. On February 13, 2004, Gerdon was sentenced to a total of fifteen years fixed and fifteen years indeterminate with all sentences to run concurrent. Gerdon filed a notice of Appeal on March 16, 2004. However, in an unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction and sentence. *State v. Gerdon*, Docket No. 30624, 2005 Unpublished Opinion No. 468 (May 19, 2005).

On October 20, 2004, Gerdon filed his first petition for post-conviction relief which was summarily dismissed by the Honorable John C. Hohnhorst, District Judge, on June 28, 2006. See James Allen Gerdon v. State of Idaho, Dist. Ct., Fifth Jud. Dist., Twin Falls County, Idaho, Case No. CV 2004-5173. On September 10, 2007, Gerdon appealed this dismissal; however, the Idaho Supreme Court Conditionally Dismissed Gerdon's appeal for failure to file the Notice of Appeal within forty-two days.

On April 21, 2008, Gerdon filed his second Petition for Post-Conviction Relief claiming ineffective assistance of counsel during his first post-conviction. See James Allen Gerdon v. State of Idaho, Dist. Ct., Fifth Jud. Dist., Twin Falls County, Idaho, Case No. CV 2008-1712. On May 6, 2009, the district court summarily dismissed this petition stating the petitioner's allegations were conclusory and unsubstantiated by any fact. In addition, the court held that an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel during post-conviction relief proceedings is not a cognizable

ground for filing a subsequent post-conviction relief application. Although Gerdon appealed the district court's Order, he subsequently filed a *Motion to Voluntarily Dismiss Appeal* on March 31, 2010.

On June 21, 2010, Gerdon filed his third petition for post conviction relief with an accompanying affidavit. On April 4, 2011, the State filed its Motion for Summary Dismissal as to all claims in Gerdon's petition for post-conviction relief. On April 18, 2011, Gerdon filed a verified Amended Successive Petition for Post Conviction Relief. As a basis for relief, Gerdon claimed his prior post-conviction counsel failed to assert ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to file a motion to suppress and failing to object to restitution. The court first dismissed the allegations regarding restitution and issued a notice of intent to dismiss his allegation regarding trial counsel's failure to file a motion to suppress. Gerdon then filed a Motion to Reconsider. The court heard arguments generally on August 8, 2011, however, no formal filing was made in response to the court's intent to dismiss Gerdon's allegation regarding trial counsel's failure to file a motion to suppress. The court then dismissed the claim, stating that Gerdon's claims were already litigated previously or timebarred.

#### (R., pp.17-19 (brackets original).)

On August 9, 2012, Gerdon filed another successive petition for post-conviction relief, alleging that his constitutional rights were violated and that he received ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel. (R., pp.9-15.) On August 13, the district court gave notice of its intent to dismiss Gerdon's successive petition on the grounds that it was filed outside of the statute of limitations and that its claims were, or should have been, previously litigated. (R., pp.16-25.) More than 20 days later, on September 5, the district court summarily dismissed Gerdon's untimely successive petition for post-conviction relief. (R., pp.27-30.) Gerdon filed a motion for reconsideration (R., pp.32-33), which the district court also denied (R., pp.38-39). Gerdon filed a timely notice of appeal. (R., pp.45-47.)

#### <u>ISSUE</u>

Gerdon states the issue on appeal as:

Did the district court err when it summarily dismissed Mr. Gerdon's Successive Petition for Post-Conviction Relief as untimely and as a successive petition, and denied Mr. Gerdon's Motion to Reconsider?

(Appellant's brief, p.2.)

The state rephrases the issue as:

Has Gerdon failed to show error in the district court's dismissal of his untimely successive petition for post-conviction relief?

#### ARGUMENT

## Gerdon Has Failed To Show Error In The District Court's Dismissal Of His Untimely Successive Petition For Post-Conviction Relief

#### A. Introduction

Gerdon was originally convicted in 2004. (R., p.17.) Later that same year, Gerdon filed his first petition for post-conviction relief, which was summarily dismissed. (R., p.17.) In 2008, Gerdon filed his first successive petition for post-conviction relief, which was dismissed on the basis that it was conclusory and unsubstantiated by any fact. (R., p.18.) In 2010, Gerdon filed another successive petition for post-conviction relief. (R., pp.18-19.) That petition was dismissed on the basis that its claims were previously litigated or time-barred. (R., p.19.) On August 9, 2012, Gerdon filed his most recent successive petition for post-conviction relief. (R., pp.9-15.) The district court dismissed the petition on the grounds that it was untimely and its claims were, or should have been, previously litigated. (R., pp.16-30.)

On appeal, Gerdon asserts that the district court erred by summarily dismissing his third successive petition for post-conviction relief, arguing that he presented an issue of material fact and the time limits should be tolled. (Appellant's brief, pp.2-7.) Application of the correct legal standards to the facts alleged by Gerdon shows no error in the district court's dismissal of his untimely successive post-conviction petition.

#### B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

"On review of a dismissal of a post-conviction relief application without an evidentiary hearing, this Court will determine whether a genuine issue of fact exists based on the pleadings, depositions and admissions together with any affidavits on file

...." Workman v. State, 144 Idaho 518, 523, 164 P.3d 798, 803 (2007) (citing <u>Gilpin-Grubb v. State</u>, 138 Idaho 76, 80, 57 P.3d 787, 791 (2002)).

## C. Gerdon's Petition For Post-Conviction Relief Is Untimely And He Has Failed To Show A Sufficient Basis For Equitably Tolling The Statute Of Limitations

Post-conviction proceedings are governed by the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act. I.C. § 19-4901, *et seq.* To be timely, a post-conviction proceeding must be commenced by filing a petition "any time within one (1) year from the expiration of the time for appeal or from the determination of an appeal or from the determination of proceedings following an appeal, whichever is later." I.C. § 19-4902(a). Under Idaho Code § 19-4906, a district court may summarily dismiss a petition for post-conviction relief when it "is satisfied, on the basis of the application, the answer or motion, and the record, that the applicant is not entitled to post-conviction relief," by indicating its intention to dismiss and giving the parties an opportunity to respond within 20 days. I.C. § 19-4906(b); see also Workman, 144 Idaho at 523, 164 P.3d at 803.

Adhering to the requirements set forth in Idaho Code § 19-4906(b), the district court summarily dismissed Gerdon's successive post-conviction petition on the ground that it was untimely. (R., pp.21-24.) In his underlying criminal case, Gerdon was convicted of several counts of lewd conduct, attempted lewd conduct, and sexual abuse of a minor. (R., p.17.) His convictions were affirmed on appeal in an unpublished decision issued on May 19, 2005. (Id.) More than seven years later, on August 9, 2012, Gerdon filed his current successive petition for post-conviction relief. (R., p.9.) Gerdon's successive petition for post-conviction relief is therefore clearly untimely under Idaho Code § 19-4902.

In the case of successive petitions the Idaho Supreme Court has "recognized that rigid application of I.C. § 19-4902 would preclude courts from considering 'claims which simply are not known to the defendant within the time limit, yet raise important due process issues." Rhoades v. State, 148 Idaho 247, 250, 220 P.3d 1066, 1069 (2009) (quoting Charboneau v. State, 144 Idaho 900, 904, 174 P.3d 870, 874 (2007)). Idaho appellate courts, therefore, have allowed for equitable tolling in circumstances where the petitioner is incarcerated in an out-of-state facility without access to representation or Idaho legal materials, where his mental illness or medications render him incompetent and prevent him from pursuing a timely challenge to his conviction, or where the petitioner's claim is based on newly discovered evidence. Judd v. State, 148 Idaho 22, 25-26, 218 P.3d 1, 4-5 (Ct. App. 2009). Absent a showing by the petitioner that the limitations period should be tolled, however, any petition filed outside the oneyear limitation period of Idaho Code § 19-4902 is time-barred and subject to summary dismissal. Evensiosky v. State, 136 Idaho 189, 190-91, 30 P.3d 967, 968-69 (2001); Schultz v. State, 151 Idaho 383, 385, 256 P.3d 791, 793 (Ct. App. 2011).

Gerdon's third successive petition was based, in part, on Gerdon's claim that the district court unreasonably delayed ruling on a *pro se* motion in his underlying criminal case. (R., p.10.) According to Gerdon, he filed the motion in March 2004, but had to wait until September 30, 2011, for the district court to rule on it. (R., p.14.) Gerdon, below and on appeal, has never specified what this motion actually was. Gerdon nevertheless argues that equitable tolling should apply to his post-conviction claims either because he lacked access to representation or legal materials to precipitate action on the unspecified motion, or because the delay in ruling on the unspecified

motion deprived him of his constitutional right of access to the legal system. (Id.; Appellant's brief, pp.4-6.) Gerdon's arguments fail.

To the extent Gerdon argues that he lacked access to the courts or legal materials, this allegation is disproved by the record: Throughout his criminal proceedings, Gerdon has enjoyed ample access to Idaho courts and legal materials, as evidenced by his several filings including an appeal of his underlying criminal case and three prior petitions for post-conviction relief. (See R., pp.17-18.) Gerdon also made no allegation that he lacked access to legal materials after the court issued its order on his unspecified motion. Therefore, he has failed to show that equitable tolling should apply to his petition for post-conviction relief.

Moreover, even if an alleged delay in ruling on Gerdon's unspecified *pro se* motion could constitute a basis for permitting equitable tolling of Gerdon's claims, he still failed to file his petition within a reasonable time under the circumstance of this case. A successive petition for post-conviction relief must be filed within a reasonable time of when the claims are discovered by the petitioner. Charboneau, 144 Idaho at 903-06, 174 P.3d at 873-76. Timeliness is measured from the date of notice, "not from the date a petitioner assembles a complete cache of evidence." Id. at 905, 174 P.3d at 875. Gerdon claims that the court ruled on his motion on September 30, 2011, yet he did not file his petition for post-conviction relief until almost a year later on August 9, 2012. It is not reasonable for a petitioner to delay for almost a year his claim that the district court delayed its ruling on a motion. Therefore, the district court properly dismissed Gerdon's petition for post-conviction relief because it was untimely.

As an alternative basis, the district court also dismissed Gerdon's successive petition on the ground that his claims were, or should have been, previously litigated. (R., pp.21-24.) Under Idaho Code § 19-4908, "[a]ny grounds for relief not raised [in the initial petition] are permanently waived if the grounds were known or should have been known at the time of the first petition." Stuart v. State, 118 Idaho 932, 933-34, 801 P.2d 1283, 1284-85 (1990). A court may grant a supplemental or additional petition where the "court finds a ground for relief asserted which for sufficient reason was not asserted or was inadequately raised in the original, supplemental, or amended application." Rhoades, 148 Idaho at 250, 220 P.3d at 1069. In this case, however, the district court specifically found that "the information provided with the present application failed to raise sufficient grounds." (R., p.24.) Gerdon does not appear to challenge this finding on appeal. Therefore, Gerdon's successive petition for post-conviction relief was not permitted under Idaho Code § 19-4908 and the district court's order summarily dismissing the successive petition must be affirmed on that unchallenged basis. See State v. Goodwin, 131 Idaho 364, 366, 956 P.2d 1311, 1313 (Ct. App. 1998) (where a basis for a trial court's ruling is not challenged on appeal, an appellate court will affirm on the unchallenged basis).

Gerdon's successive petition for post-conviction relief was untimely filed and he has provided no basis for tolling the statute of limitations. The claims he raised in his petition either were, or should have been, previously litigated in his several prior petitions for post-conviction relief. The district court properly dismissed Gerdon's petition and its order dismissing the petition should be affirmed.

#### CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's summary dismissal of Gerdon's untimely successive petition for post-conviction relief.